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information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions, architectural

classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. - Place additional entries and narative items

on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property
historic name Willow Mill Complex
other names/site number Shaw-Leedom House & Mill, and Sager, Howard, House & Mill

2. Location

street & number _570 Bustleton Pike, 559 Bustleton Pike, 569 Bustleton Pike not for publication_ N/A
city or town _Richborg_(Northampton Township) vicinity ___N/A

state ___Pennsylvania code _PA county Bucks code__ 017 zip code 18954

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, I hereby certify that this ¥y omination
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property X X

meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant __ nationally ___
statewide x x locally. ( Sgwconginuation sheet for additional comments.)

97/\1)&‘ Dj March 13, 2002
Signature of certifying official/Title Date

PA Historical & Museum Commission

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria. ( ____ See continuation sheet for additional
comuments. )
Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4, National Park Service Certification

I, hereby certify that this property is: Signature of Keeper Date of Action

_____ entered in the National Register
___ See continuation sheet.
_____determined eligible for the
National Register
___ See continnation sheet.
____determined not eligible for the
National Register
____removed from the National Register
____ other (explain):
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply)
_X_ private
____ public-local
___ public-State
____ public-Federal

Category of Property (Check only one box)
_x__building(s)
___ district

____site

____ structure

____object

Number of Resources within Property

Contributing Noncontributing

5 buildings
sites
structures
objects

5 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National

Register __ 0___

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: _Domestic Sub: single dwellings Cat: Domestic Sub: single dwellings
Domestic secondary structure Domestic secondary structures
Agriculture/Subsistence agricultural outbuilding
Industry manufacturing facility

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
Federal foundation stone
Mid- 19% century roof cedar, asphalt
walls limestong, fieldstone
other wood

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

See attached
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8. Statement of Signiﬁcance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in
our past.
X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or represents the work

of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose
components lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.
Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)
A owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.
_____ B removed from its original location.
_____C abirthplace or a grave.
D acemetery.
____E areconstructed building, object, or structure.
____F acommemorative property.
G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Industry
Architecture

Period of Significance
¢. 1740-1905

Significant Dates

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder ____Shaw, Joseph
McKinney, Cornelius

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on ane or more continuation sheets.)

See attached
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9. Major Bibliographical References

{Cite the books, articles, and Gther sources used in preparing this T0rm on ONc of MoTe continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

____preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested.

____previously listed in the National Register

_____previously determined eligible by the National Register

___ designated a National Historic Landmark

____recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #

___recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

Primary Location of Additional Data:
____ State Historic Preservation Office
____Other State agency

____Federal agency

____Local government

___ University

_X_Other

Name of repository:

Spruance Library, Bucks County Historical Society, Doylestown, PA
Northampton Public Library, Richboro, PA

The Heritage Conservancy, Doylestown, PA

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 11.6 acres
UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)
Zone Easting Northing  Zone Easting Northing
1 18 499240 4449860 3 18 498920 4449520
2 18 499360 4449560 4 18 498820 4449760
____See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By
namef/title Diane Newbury and Ellen Freedman Schultz as Consultants to
organization John Milner Architects, Inc. date April 9, 2001
street & number __Route 1 & Route 100 telephone_ 610-388-0111
city or town Chadds Ford state PA zip code__19317

Additional Documentation _
Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)
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Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name
street & number telephone
city or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to
nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is
required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time for
reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden
estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.0. Box 37127, Washington, DC
20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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The Willow Mill Complex in Northampton Township, Bucks County includes the circa 1800 Federal style
Shaw-Leedom house with possible eighteenth century wing and spring house, the mid-nineteenth century
vernacular Sager house and wagon house and the mid-nineteenth century mill. All the buildings in the complex
contribute to its significance. The complex is separated by two-lane Bustleton Pike at a location where it takes a
sharp bend. The Shaw-Leedom house sits on the west side of the Pike while the Sager house and mill sit on the
east side. The Shaw-Leedom house and spring house sit on a rise above the Iron Works Creek surrounded by
mature trees and shrubs and stone terracing at an angle to Bustleton Pike. The Sager house and the wagon
house sit down a long driveway on a knoll above the mill and face an open field. Both the Shaw-Leedom house
and the Sager house retain a high degree of integrity. The mill, now a residence, sits on the edge of Bustleton
Pike. Signs of the millrace are evident although altered to accommodate the mill’s use as a residence. Although
altered, the former mill is completely recognizable as a nineteenth century mill.

The main block of the Shaw-Leedom house, a two-and-a-half story, five bay, random pattern stone building with
dressed quoins. The main block of the house was built in approximately 1800. The wood shingle gable roof has
a box cornice. There are two stone and stucco interior end chimneys flanked by four light wood windows.
Second floor windows are six- over-six wood sash with wood sills and wood louvered shutters. First floor
windows are six-over-nine sash with paneled wood shutters. The center entrance door has a small wood shingle
gable end porch roof supported on two square posts. The door is a recessed raised nine-panel wood door with a
four-light double transom. The east side of the main block has two six-oversix sash on the second floor. The
rear or north fagade of the main block has a late twentieth century one story addition. The rear second floor of
the main block has three six-over-six sash with louvered wood shutters. A late twentieth century shed roof
dormer with three single light windows punctuates the roof at the rear of the main block. The integrity found in
each of the buildings at Willow Mill, in turn, gives strength to the historic entity as a whole, although the
complex is separated by a public road, there is great strength in the appearance and relationship of the assembled

parts.

A one-and-a-half story 2 bay wide stone wing with gable roof has one stone and stucco interior end chimney and
is located on the west side of the main block. This wing may be the kitchen wing described in a 1761 inventory
made at the time of Joseph Shaw’s death. Two gable roofed clapboard sided dormers with six-over-six wood
sash windows punctuate the wood shingle gable roof on the front facade. A deeply recessed porch with a roof
supported by three wood posts and a slate floor runs along the front of the wing. There is a wood paneled door
flanked by two six-over-six sash windows with paneled wood shutters on the first floor. The banked gable end
of the wing has one four-over-four sash and one two-over-two light window on the first floor and one fourover-
four sash window on the second floor. A battered wood plank door leads to the basement and a stone drain
protrudes from the interior sink. The stone wall remnants of a bake oven remain. The gable end wall extends to
the front elevation of the porch. The rear of the wing has a six-over-six wood sash and a two-light wood panel
door.

A late twentieth century L-shaped addition runs along the rear of the main block of the house. The one story
stucco addition has a shallow sloped asphalt shingle roof topped with a small wooden cupola. The east side of
the addition is clapboard and stucco with a wood paneled garage door and an eight-light bay window. The west
side of the north elevation of the ell addition has a pair of six-oversix sash and a door. The short side of the ell
has a set of hopper and fixed sash windows.
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The Shaw-Leedom house main block is a one room deep center hall plan. Elaborate gouge work decorates the
fireplace surrounds in the first floor rooms that flank the center hall. The one-and-a-half story wing has a large
“walk-in” fireplace with a stone hearth and the interior remains of a bake oven opening. To the left of the
fireplace is a wood framed closet containing a large stone trough sink. Above the sink is a two-over two-light
wood window, an opening for a hand pump and drain opening to the exterior for waste water. An enclosed
winder stair leads to the second floor. Built-in cupboards flank both of the two fireplaces in the second floor

rooms in the main block.

Adjacent to the Shaw-Leedom house is a random laid, stone gable-roofed, spring/smoke house, c. 1800, with
wood shingle roof built into the bank above the Iron Works Creek. A wood panel door with iron hinges opens at
grade level. The interior has wide plank flooring with a smoker in the corner. A wood door on the lower level of
the west side of the building opens to a spring house with dirt flooring and contains the original stone trough.

Willow Mill, built in the 1840s on the site of a 1739 mill, was converted to residential use in 1938. The stone
arch of the mill race is presently covered from view by an overgrowth of weeds. The random-coursed stone
four-story building, with dressed quoins, has a wood shingle gable roof. Down the center of the west fagade of
the building there are four fixed single light windows. Stone infill indicates that the windows were modified to
the current smaller size during the conversion to a residence. Two smaller fixed single light windows flank the
large single light center window on the second floor. Two additional single light windows are on the first and
third floors. The box that once housed the pulley hoist is on the road side of the building. Stone infill indicates -
that there were more windows before the building’s conversion to residential use. On the east side of the mill,
on the first floor there are a two-light modern window and a single light door with stone steps. The second floor
has one single light modern window and a single light modern door. The west side of the mill has a steep shed
roof addition made of vertical wood boards and stone. The gable end of the rear fagade has vertical wood boards
and a twentieth century two-and-a-half story lean-to addition off the west fagade. This addition is stepped back
slightly from the original rear fagade and contains twentieth century fenestration. The rear of the mill building is

-pierced with one-light windows and a one and a half story stucco and vertical wood board sided lean-to shed
attachment with wood shingle roof. This shed is in the eastern half of the fagade and has a one-light door on the
side. The first and second floors have one pair of single-light windows on each floor. The third floor has two
one-light windows and the gable has a tripartite window in the center.

The Sager house sits on the east side of Bustleton Pike. The house sits on a rise overlooking the mill and a broad
gently sloping field. The house was built in 1847. The house is a three bay two-and-a-half story random-laid
ashlar stone building with wood shingle gable roof with box cornice. There are two interior stone chimneys,
which replaced the earlier brick ones in approximately 1950. On the northeast side of the house is a oneand-a-
half story wing with a shed roof. The northwest fagade has two recessed wood panel doors each with a four-
light transom. A large cantilevered wood pedimented gable roof, built in 1962, is situated above the entrances.
Six-over-six sash with wood lintels and sills and wood panel shutters flank the doors. The second floor windows
are six-over-six sash with wood louvered shutters. Surmounting each window is a stone lintel consisting of a
keystone flanked by two horizontal stones. Within the lintel, installed in 1938, of the center second floor
window is an inscription “H & SS 1847” for Howard and Sarah Sager who built the house in 1847 and “A & FH
1938” representing Adolf and Florence Herzog purchasers of the property in 1938.

Two wood shingled gable roof dormers with rounded arch head six-over-six sash windows punctuate the roof of
the southeast side of the house. The second floor has three six-over-six sash windows. A wood shingle pent
roof constructed in 1953 extends above the first floor. The first floor fagade is covered with white stucco. It has
a center door flanked by a six-over-six window with wood paneled shutters on either side . The center door is
recessed with a four-light transom above it. Stone steps, built in 1947, lead to the door.
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A one-and-a-half story stone elongated shed roof wing extends from the main block on the northeast. The wing
houses the kitchen and is sometimes referred to as a “Dutch Stoop”. The wing has a shed roof dormer sided
with wood shingles and clapboard. There is a pair of six-over-six wood sash windows. The northwest side of
the wing has a six-over-six wood sash window with one of a pair of wood paneled shutters. The dormer was
added prior to 1938. Directly above the shed, on the main block, is a four-over two-wood sash window with a
wood louvered shutter. The southeast side of the wing contains a door and a six-over-six wood sash window
with paneled wood shutters on the first floor. There is a porch with a metal sheathed shed roof, supported by a
pair of wood posts with a flagstone floor. The second floor window has a four-over-two wood sash window.

The stone shed-roof wing is extended by a smaller wood frame shed addition with vertical board siding and is
half the depth of the house. There is a four-light window on the northwest side of the wood addition.

The southwest side of the main block of the house has two six-over-six sash windows on each of the first and
second floors. The third floor has a four-over-two sash window with wood surround and wood sills.

The main block of the house is one room deep and three rooms wide. A winder stair in the center room leads to
the second and third floors. Deeply recessed bullnose windows are found throughout the interior of the main
block of the house. A buttery is attached to the kitchen end of the house containing a wood sink and shelving.
Stone steps reach a cold vault with vaulted ceiling in a deep basement underneath the shed roofed wing. Central
heating and bathrooms were added to the house after 1938.

The nineteenth century wagon house is a two-story building with vertical board siding and gable roof on a stone
foundation. The west, or gable end, of the building has a double leaf wood door in the center flanked by single
leaf wood doors on either side. A wood shingle pent roof is situated above the doors. The second floor has a
loft door flanked by six-over-six wood sash windows. A wood shed roof addition occupies the south side of the
wagon house. The shed roof addition has a wood door on the west side and three-over-three wood fixed
windows on the south side. The rear, or east side, of the wagon house has a one story gable roof addition with a
door containing a nine-light glass panel. A shed roof on posts is attached to the side of the rear addition. Chain
link metal fenced dog runs are located at the rear of the wagon house.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Willow Mills Complex is significant under both Criterion A and Criterion C of the National Register.
Under Criterion A, the Complex is associated with the broad pattern of grain milling in Northampton Township,
Bucks County in the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Abundant water power for mill operation, good
transportation routes for the millers” products and fertile land for the production of grain made Bucks County a
center for milling operations. Willow Mills Complex 1s a significant example of the thriving mill operations in
cighteenth and nineteenth century Bucks County. Under Criterion C, Willow Mills Complex is a significant
example of the architectural trends of mill complexes in Northampton Township in the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries. Stone construction in a vernacular Federal style characterize the architectural trends found in the few
surviving mill complexes. The “Dutch Stoop” kitchen wing and the keystone arrangement on the windows on
the Sager House appear unique to Northampton Township architecture. The period of significance (¢. 1740 -
1905) reflects the era when Willow Mill operated continuously as a milling business.

The fertile soil of Bucks County attracted farmers who cleared the land and grew a variety of crops including
wheat, corn, oats and potatoes. Wheat was the Bucks County farmer’s cash crop in the eighteenth and
nineteenth centuries. These plentiful wheat crops, coupled with the abundant water supply, encouraged the
development of the grain milling industry in Bucks County. Mills were essential to the local and regional
economy and Philadelphia became a major exporter of grains to other parts of the country. The well-developed
road system provided casy access for the Bucks County millers’ products to reach the shipping port of
Philadelphia. Neshaminy Creek and its tributaries provided abundant waterpower for Northampton Township.
The Neshaminy Creek formed a boundary line for a portion of the Township and many grist and saw mills were
established in the Township.

A mill was first established at this location in approximately 1739 when John and Joseph Shaw purchased
twenty-nine acres from William Buckman and Isaac Pennington. After their purchase the Shaw family erected a
grist and saw mill on Iron Works Creek, a Neshaminy Creek tributary. The Shaws’ mill was one of at least eight
mills established in Northampton Township along the Neshaminy Creek and its tributaries in the eighteenth
century. Grinding grain and sawing lumber became the major industries of Bucks County. These early grist
and saw mills provided flour for settlers and lumber for homes and barns. The Shaws also built a stone house
near their mill site.

While eight mills were established in Northampton Township in the eighteenth century only two survive in
addition to Willow Mill. A fourth surviving Northampton Township mill was built in 1819. John Swift built the
first mill in Northampton Township between 1701 and 1710. As was typical Swift’s mill ground corn for the
early settlers. Robert Heaton purchased the mill in the early eighteenth century. Heaton’s Mill was used
repeatedly in early road petitions denoting its significance in the community. The mill, known as the Heaton,
Holland or Rocksville Mill passed through a series of owners, as was common, in the nineteenth century and
continued to operate until 1962,

A third eighteenth century mill was built by Dr. Hugh Tomb between 1773 and 1782. Known as the Fairview
Mill, the mill operated until the early twentieth century.

The fourth mill still extant in Northampton Township is the Spring Garden mill located in what is now Tyler
State Park. The Spring Garden Mill was built in 1819 and was owned by Richard Imlay and Enos Morris. The
mill became part of the Tyler estate in the first half of the twentieth century and continued to operate until 1965.
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Three generations of the Shaw Family owned and operated the mill until 1792 when they sold it, along with the
stone dwelling house, to Richard Leedom, a Northampton Township resident and owner of the Black Bear
Tavern. The mill became known as Willow Mill during Leedom’s ownership. Leedom expanded the mill
business to include grinding plaster of paris. Using the power of the mill to grind and produce other products in
addition to grains was not uncommon for millers in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Leedom’s business
success is illustrated in the fine stone house known as the Shaw-Leedom house built in approximately 1800
apparently incorporating a portion of a Shaw family house.

The Leedoms sold the mill to Abraham Lukens and Howard Sager in 1832, The Leedom family retained
ownership of the Shaw —Leedom house. Four years later Howard Sager purchased his partner’s half of the mill.
Sager replaced the eighteenth century mill building built by the Shaws with a four-story stone grist mill that had
an overshot wheel probably utilizing Oliver Evans™ innovations in mill design. In addition to grinding wheat and
corn, the grist mill also produced oil from flax seeds. Sager ran the mill with a young apprentice miller. Census
records show that a farmer and teamster lived with the Sagers indicating that Sager also cultivated the land
surrounding the mill. Sager’s successful milling operation enabled him to build a new house on Bustleton Pike
in 1847. The stone house is known today as the Sager House. In 1834 Sager advertised the mill and house for
sale. The advertisement listing included the four-story flour mill, a forty-six by twenty-five foot sawmill, the
new stone house, a frame barn, wagon house and a smoke house. Sager still owned the mill complex when
floods breached the breastwork of the dam and stopped mill production temporarily in 1858. Sager sold the mill
in 1860 to Samuel Reed.

Advertisements appeared in the newspaper for the sale of the mill again in 1868. By 1868 the mill business
consisted of a grist and saw mill each powered by their own overshot wheel. The sale advertisement noted the
fertile land adjacent to the mill and its ability to be cultivated. The mill pond was northwest of the mill and the
mill race crossed Bustleton Pike above the mill. The race passed from the north to power the wheel. In 1872
Theodore and Howard Krusen purchased the mill. After their purchase of Willow Mills, the Krusens made
improvements including the conversion of the mill to steam power. Farming, especially the production of
wheat, continued to be the main occupation of Bucks County residents in the nineteenth century ensuring the
importance of the mill in the community. The Krusen Mill (Willow Mill) and Shaw-Leedom House figured
prominently in the community and were pictured in the 1876 J.D. Scott map.

Mills were important in the Bucks County and Northampton Township economy and local newspapers
constantly reported the activities of the mills. The newspapers reported the improvements made by owners to
their mills, the advertisements for sales, the problems or damage that resulted in a temporary shut down of a
mill’s operation. Mills also featured prominently in Bucks County atlases. The atlases contained illustrations
depicting the local mill complexes attesting to the importance to the community and the economy.

Northampton mill owners appear to have operated their businesses in a similar fashion to each other. Like
Willow Mills Complex, many of the mills in Northampton Township went through a succession of owners in the
nineteenth century. By the mid-nineteenth century most mill owners had replaced their eighteenth century mills
with larger mill buildings and up to date equipment. Like Willow Mills, the complexes had the capacity to grind
wheat and corn and saw lumber. Along with the diversification of products able to be milled at one mill, the
millers focused on the best transportation routes to get their products to the growing settlements in Bucks
County. Millers also farmed the land surrounding their mill and kept orchards. Some millers had tenant farmers
cultivating their land. Millers’ houses appear similar in size to the houses in the Willow Mills Complex.
Numerous out buildings such as carriage houses, hay barns and animal pens dotted the mill complexes.



